2015

## **The State of Utah, Plaintiff-Appellee vs. Dennis J. Garcia, Defendant-Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION OF APPELLATE COURT

This "appeal" of a decision of the Third District Court is to the Utah Court of Appeals, which has jurisdiction in accordance with Section 78A-4-103(e), Utah Code [appeals from non-capital "criminal" cases], even though this appeal effectively involves the "civil judgment" entered by reason of the "jurisdiction" statutorily-granted to the District Court to do so.

The Utah Court of Appeals has concurrent jurisdiction to rule upon the "unconstitutionality of statute" presented to the District Court and also raised in this appeal.

## ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This appeal (and the predicate factual situation surrounding it) presents the following issues for review:

1. The District Court erred in its ruling that the court had "no jurisdiction" to review Defendant's "set aside" motion involving the "civil judgment" arising from the filing of the Board's 24 September 2013 "order of restitution".

STANDARD OF REVIEW: Where the issue involves interpretation and application of a statute, the appellate court grants the trial court no deference but reviews the conclusion for correctness. **Salt Lake Child and Family Therapy Clinic, Inc. vs Frederick**, 890 P.2d 1017 (Utah Supreme Court 1995); **Young Electric Sign Company, Inc. vs State ex rel UDOT**, 2005 UT App 169, 110

P.3d 1118 (Utah Court of Appeals 2005). A trial court's conclusions of law in civil cases<sup>1</sup> are reviewed for correctness. **United Park City Mines Company vs Greater Park City Company**, 870 P.2d 880, 885 (Utah Supreme Court 1993). This standard of review has also been referred to as a "correction of error standard". **Jacobsen Investment Company vs State Tax Commission**, 839 P.2d 789, 790 (Utah Supreme Court 1992). "Correction of error" means that no particular deference is given to the trial court's ruling on questions of law. **State vs Pena**, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah Supreme Court 1994). The "correction of error" standard means that the appellate court decides the matter for itself and does not defer in any degree to the trial judge's determination of law. **Howell vs Howell**, 806 P.2d 1209, 1211 (Utah Court of Appeals 1993).

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE FOR APPEAL. The "jurisdiction" of the District Court to "set aside" the "civil judgment" arising from the filing of the Board-prepared "Order of

---

<sup>1</sup>Although this "case" is actually a "criminal case", the Defendant's "motions to set aside" the resultant "civil judgment" against him by reason of the Board's defective "order of restitution" are properly before the District Court. The controlling statutes [77-27-6 and 77-38a-402, Utah Code] expressly direct the Board to file its "restitution order" with the sentencing court, which was the Third District Court and Judge Skanchy.

Restitution" was presented to the District Court in DEFENDANT'S MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL, dated/filed 24 April 2014, pages 5-10, RECORD at 296-301.

2. The Board's September 2013 "restitution order" is invalid, due to the fact---admitted by the Board---that the Board failed to conduct the "full hearing" (or any hearing, for that matter) on the "restitution" issue, as said "full hearing" was expressly required by Section 77-27-5(3), Utah Code. STANDARD OF REVIEW: See #1, above.

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE FOR APPEAL. Defendant's arguments concerning the Board's failure to afford him the statutorily-prescribed "full hearing" were presented to the District Court in DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE CIVIL JUDGMENT [LACK OF STATUTORILY-REQUIRED HEARING: 77-27-5], dated/filed 11 June 2014, RECORD at 545-546, and DEFENDANT'S MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO SET ASIDE CIVIL JUDGMENT [LACK OF STATUTORILY-REQUIRED RESTITUTION HEARING: 77-27-5], dated/filed 11 June 2014, RECORD at 547-557.

3. The Board's September 2013 "restitution order" is invalid, due to the fact that the State's claim for "restitution" would have time-barred by the 2-year statute of limitation of Section 78B-2-304(2), Utah Code [for "wrongful death"] and the

Board was statutorily-precluded from awarding "restitution" for "pecuniary damages" for such time-barred losses, in accordance with the provisions of Section 77-38a-102(6), Utah Code. Thus, the Board's September 2014 "restitution order" is, in essence, ultra vires of its statutorily-granted authorities and the civil judgment resulting from the filing thereof should be set aside.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: See #1, above.

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE FOR APPEAL. Defendant's arguments concerning the Board's "ultra vires" action in ordering "restitution" for "funeral expenses" already time-barred by the 2-year "wrongful death" statute of limitation were presented to the District Court within DEFENDANT'S MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL, dated/filed 24 April 2014, pages 19-27, thereof. RECORD at 310-318.

4. The Board's September 2013 "restitution order" is invalid, due to the fact that the September 2014 "restitution order"---the "order" which was actually filed with the District Court and for which the filing thereof creates the "civil judgment" sought to be set aside---was not "made within sixty days" of the Defendant's release from prison, as expressly required by Section 77-27-

6(4), Utah Code.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: See #1, above.

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE FOR APPEAL. Defendant's arguments concerning the Board's failure to afford him the statutorily-prescribed "full hearing" were presented to the District Court in DEFENDANT'S MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO SET ASIDE RESTITUTION ORDER, dated/filed 12 November 2013. RECORD at 131-135.

5. The provisions of Section 77-27-5(3), Utah Code [administrative decisions (including restitution) and orders of the Board of Pardons decisions are not subject to any "judicial review"] is unconstitutional, as violative of Article I, Section 11 ["open courts" provisions] of the Utah Constitution.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: See #1, above. A validly-adopted statute is afforded a "strong presumption of constitutionality". See **Maxfield vs Herbert**, 2012 UT 44, ¶ 15, 284 P.3d 647 (Utah Supreme Court 2012); **Peterson vs Coca-Cola USA**, 2002 UT 42, ¶ 23, 48 P.3d 941 (Utah Supreme Court 2002). The challenging party has a "heavy burden" to show the statute is unconstitutional. See **Jones vs Utah Board of Pardons & Parole**, 2004 UT 53, ¶ 10, 94 P.3d 283 (Utah Supreme Court 2004).

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE FOR APPEAL. Defendant's

claims as to the "unconstitutionality" of Section 77-27-5(3), Utah Code, were presented to the District Court pursuant to and within DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR JUDICIAL DETERMINATION OF UNCONSTITUTIONALITY OF STATE STATUTE [77-27-5(3)], dated/filed 21 April 2014. RECORD at 283-285. See also "Defendant's Notification to Utah Attorney General", dated 21 April 2014 [RECORD at 290-291] and "Defendant's Memorandum in Support", dated 24 April 2014. RECORD 292-318.

#### **CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS**

##### **[Subsection 77-27-6(4), Utah Code]**

(4) If the defendant, upon termination or expiration of sentence owes outstanding fines, restitution, or other assessed costs, or if the board makes an order of restitution within 60 days after the termination or expiration of the defendant's sentence, the matter shall be referred to the district court for civil collection remedies. The Board of Pardons and Parole shall forward a restitution order to the sentencing court to be entered on the judgment docket. The entry shall constitute a lien and is subject to the same rules as a judgment for money in a civil judgment.

[Points I, II]

##### **[Subsection 77-27-5(1)(c), Utah Code]**

(c) No restitution may be ordered, no fine, forfeiture, or restitution remitted, no parole, pardon, or commutation granted or sentence terminated, except after a full hearing before the board or the board's appointed examiner in open session. Any action taken under this subsection other than by a majority of the board shall be affirmed by a majority of the board.

[Point II]

##### **[Subsection 77-27-6(2)(b), Utah Code]**

(2)(b) In accordance with Section 77-38a-302(5)(d)(ii), the board may order that a defendant make restitution for pecuniary damages

that were not determined by the court, unless the board applying the criteria as set forth in Section 77-38a-302 determines that restitution is inappropriate.  
[Point III]

**[Subsection 77-38a-102(6), Utah Code]**

(6) "Pecuniary damages" means all demonstrable economic injury, whether or not incurred, which a person could recover in a civil action arising out of the facts or events constituting the defendant's criminal activities . . .

**[Subsection 77-27-6(2)(c), Utah Code]**

(c) Except as provided in Subsection (2)(d), the board shall make all orders of restitution within 60 days after the termination or expiration of the defendant's sentence.  
[Point IV]

**[Section 77-27-5(3), Utah Code]**

(3) Decisions of the board in cases involving paroles, pardons, commutations or terminations of sentence, restitution, or remission of fines and forfeitures are final and are not subject to judicial review. . . .  
[Point V]

**[Article I, Section 11 of the Utah Constitution]**

All courts shall be open, and every person, for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law, which shall be administered without denial and unnecessary delay; and no person shall be barred from prosecuting or defending before any tribunal in the State, by himself or counsel, any civil cause to which he is a party.  
[Point V]

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

1. In March 2006 Defendant DENNIS J GARCIA was the driver of a motor vehicle involved in a single-vehicle accident in which his passenger Shane Buckley was killed. Defendant GARCIA was arrested at the scene and charged with Automobile Homicide, a third-degree felony. RECORD at 1-3.
2. On 25 February 2008 Gail Buckley, the court-appointed

Personal Representative of the Estate of Thomas Shane Buckley, Deceased filed a district court lawsuit [Civil No. 080903244] against GARCIA for "wrongful death" and/or related expenses incurred in the March 2006 automobile accident and related events which gave rise to the criminal charges against GARCIA.FOOTNOTE<sup>2</sup> The civil case was defended by private attorneys hired by the liability insurance carrier for the GARCIA-owned motor vehicle involved in the accident. Eventually, Gail Buckley in her individual and official Personal Representative capacity settled with the insurance carrier and received the sum of \$25,000---the "policy limits"---for the claim of loss, in behalf of the estate and the heirs. GARCIA was unaware whether the State of Utah or any of its agencies---except for UDOT, which was paid on a "property damage" claim---made claim upon the "estate" of the deceased. Gail Buckley in her individual and official Personal Representative capacities signed a two-page "General Release and Settlement Document" [RECORD at 365-367; ATTACHMENT 7 to this BRIEF], by which all claims against GARCIA (and his insurance company) would be released

---

<sup>2</sup>The Buckley-filed, on 25 February 2008, "wrongful death" litigation was timely, as being before the expiration of the applicable 2-year statute of limitation therefor. [Section 78B-2-304(2), Utah Code.] The Buckley complaint pleaded only Mrs Buckley---albeit in her individual and "personal representative" capacities---as the Plaintiff therein. Neither the Utah Office for Crime Victims Reparations ["CVR"] nor any other Utah governmental agency was pleaded as a party therein, nor was the CVR's \$7,000 reimbursement to her expressly identified as such.



and forever discharged. GARCIA was generally unaware of the disposition of claims made or which should have been made within the "probate case" of the deceased, Thomas Shane Buckley. See AFFIDAVIT OF DENNIS J GARCIA IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO SET ASIDE ORDER OF RESTITUTION, dated 7 November 2013, ¶ 8, RECORD at 128-129.

3. On 17 April 2008, following a one-day jury trial, Defendant GARCIA was convicted of the charged felony offense. Following that conviction, GARCIA was immediately ordered into custody pending sentencing. See AFFIDAVIT OF DENNIS J GARCIA IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO SET ASIDE ORDER OF RESTITUTION, dated 7 November 2013, ¶ 2. RECORD at 127.

4. On 2 June 2008 GARCIA was sentenced by the trial judge (the Honorable Randall N Skanchy of the Third District Court) to serve an indeterminate sentence, not exceeding five years incarceration. Judge Skanchy announced that GARCIA would be "given credit for time served". Judge Skanchy announced that the "restitution" would be left "open"; no restitution was ordered at time of sentencing. See AFFIDAVIT OF DENNIS J GARCIA IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO SET ASIDE ORDER OF RESTITUTION, dated 7 November 2013, ¶ 3. RECORD at 127.

5. No "restitution" was ordered by the District Court within one year of sentencing. In fact, no "restitution"--- of any kind and in any amount---has, to my knowledge, ever been ordered by the District Court. GARCIA was never been notified of any District Court "restitution" hearing or

proceeding, was never been given opportunity to participate in any such proceeding, nor did GARCIA knowingly waive his rights to be notified of and/or participate in such proceedings. See AFFIDAVIT OF DENNIS J GARCIA IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO SET ASIDE ORDER OF RESTITUTION, dated 7 November 2013, ¶ 4, RECORD at 127.

6. GARCIA served a five-year period of continuous incarceration, without interruption: from 17 April 2008 (following the jury conviction) until his release on 15 April 2013 from the Utah State Prison, upon full and complete expiration of the Court-imposed sentence. At the time of GARCIA's release from prison on the herein-referenced felony conviction, he had no other "charges" or convictions against him for which the Utah Department of Corrections had jurisdiction over him or for which he was being held or serving "time". See AFFIDAVIT OF DENNIS J GARCIA IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO SET ASIDE ORDER OF RESTITUTION, dated 7 November 2013, ¶ 5, RECORD at 127-128.

7. During his five-year period of incarceration at the Utah State Prison and up to just weeks before his release from prison, GARCIA routinely checked through the "NORMS" database---a service regularly provided to inmates---as to whether there were any unpaid fines, "restitution" or similar unresolved claims or holds against me: there were none. [See ATTACHMENT 11 to this BRIEF.] His bi-monthly written account statements always reflected a "\$0.00" balance for any "restitution" to be paid. See AFFIDAVIT OF

DENNIS J GARCIA IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO SET ASIDE ORDER OF RESTITUTION, dated 7 November 2013, ¶ 6, RECORD at 128.

8. During his five-year incarceration at the Utah State Prison and up to and through his release from incarceration (in April 2013), GARCIA was never notified of any "restitution" hearing (to be held by the Third District Court or the Utah Board of Pardons and Parole), was never invited to participate in such a hearing (in either forum), did not participate in such a hearing, and never knowingly waived his right to participate in such a hearing. See AFFIDAVIT OF DENNIS J GARCIA IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO SET ASIDE ORDER OF RESTITUTION, dated 7 November 2013, ¶ 7, RECORD at 128.

9. Actions (and/or inaction) undertaken by GARCIA and by his liability insurance carrier were in reasonable and good faith reliance upon the efficacy of the "General Release and Settlement Document" signed by Gail Buckley in her official Personal Representative capacity. See AFFIDAVIT OF DENNIS J GARCIA IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO SET ASIDE ORDER OF RESTITUTION, dated 7 November 2013, ¶ 9, RECORD at 129; ATTACHMENT 7 to this APPELLANT'S BRIEF.

10. GARCIA was given no notice of any "restitution hearing" ostensibly held by the Utah Board of Pardons and Parole prior to or subsequent to or as a condition of his April 2013 release from incarceration. GARCIA did not participate in any such hearing and he did not knowingly waive his right to participate in any such hearing, at any time or place.

See AFFIDAVIT OF DENNIS J GARCIA IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO SET ASIDE ORDER OF RESTITUTION, dated 7 November 2013, ¶ 10, RECORD at 129-130.

11. Until GARCIA received (in late-October 2013) written correspondence from the Utah Office of Debt Collection as to a claimed \$9,000+ "debt", claimed-to-be owed by him to the State, GARCIA was unaware of any such claimed "debt" or his liability for payment thereof. See AFFIDAVIT OF DENNIS J GARCIA IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO SET ASIDE ORDER OF RESTITUTION, dated 7 November 2013, ¶ 11, RECORD at 129-130.

12. On 15 April 2013 Defendant GARCIA was released from the Utah State Prison, his 5-year sentence for the felony conviction having expired. See AFFIDAVIT OF DENNIS J GARCIA IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO SET ASIDE ORDER OF RESTITUTION, dated 7 November 2013, ¶ 3, RECORD at 127.

13. On or about 24 September 2013 the Honorable Clark A Harms, Chairman of the Utah Board of Pardons and Parole prepared and signed, in behalf of the Board, a one-page "ORDER OF RESTITUTION". The "ORDER" was forwarded to and received by the Clerk of the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County and "entered" on the "judgment docket" about 11 October 2013. RECORD at 119. [ATTACHMENT 1 to this BRIEF]

14. On 8 November 2013 GARCIA filed his "set aside" motion. RECORD at 122-125.

15. On 13 January 2014 the UTAH BOARD OF PARDONS AND PAROLE, represented by Assistant Attorney General Sharel

Reber, and the UTAH OFFICE OF DEBT COLLECTION, represented by Assistant Attorney General Amanda Jex, orally petitioned the Third District Court for voluntary "intervention", as claimed "real-parties-in-interest, in the case. The two state agencies' petitions were granted by the District Court and the entities have continuously participated in the "civil judgment" proceedings thereafter. See RECORD at 155-218 [Board's "OPPOSITION" memorandum, dated 6 February 2014, with extensive attachments] and RECORD 221-275 [Utah Office of Debt Collection's "CONTRA MEMORANDUM", dated 13 February 2014, with extensive attachments].

16. In April 2014 the District Court---the Honorable Randall N Skanchy---ruled the District Court had "no jurisdiction" to set aside the "civil judgment" arising from the filing of the Board-filed "order of restitution". RECORD at 279-282. [ATTACHMENT 2 to this BRIEF] The Defendant made timely (within 10 days) "motion for new trial", in addition to other related motions, including a claim for the judicial determination of the unconstitutionality of the provisions of Section 77-27-5(3), Utah Code (purporting to prohibit any judicial review of Board of Pardons decisions). RECORD at 284-285.

17. On 28 August 2014 the District Court issued its "memorandum decision" [RECORD at 593-596; ATTACHMENT 3 to this BRIEF] denying the Defendant's motions (for new trial, and so forth), but did not sign the actual Court-directed but Board-prepared "ORDER OF THE COURT" until over a month

later (29 September 2014). RECORD at 604-607 [ATTACHMENT 4 to this BRIEF.]

18. On 25 October 2014 the Defendant DENNIS J GARCIA filed his "Notice of Appeal". RECORD at 611-612.

#### **SUMMARIES OF ARGUMENTS ON APPEAL**

1. The District Court erred in its ruling that the court had "no jurisdiction" to review Defendant's "set aside" motion involving the "restitution order" and/or, more specifically, the resultant "civil judgment" arising from the filing thereof. The two statutes expressly applicable to the "making" of a "restitution order" by the Parole Board additionally direct the filing thereof with the District Court, as the "sentencing court" of the underlying felony criminal case, from which the Board (upon incarceration in the state prison) has jurisdiction over the individual. That "filing" (of the "restitution order") has the effect---statutorily prescribed---of creating a "civil judgment" against the Defendant. However, those same statutes expressly provide that the "civil judgment" so created is "subject to the same rules as a judgment for money in a civil judgment". The "civil judgment" thus entered is not, per se, tied to the "sentencing" function of the District Court as part of the original criminal conviction; rather, the Board's filing of its "restitution order" has the effect of reinvesting the District Court with "civil jurisdiction", which includes the Rule 60(b) remedies to "set aside" the "civil judgment".

2. The Board's September 2013 "restitution order" is invalid, due to the fact---admitted by the Board---that the Board failed to conduct the "full hearing" (or any hearing, for that matter) on the "restitution" issue, as said "full hearing" was expressly required by Section 77-27-5(3), Utah Code. The excuses advanced by the Board to justify its failure to hold the "restitution hearing"---namely, an unsubstantiated, undocumented and unproved "waiver" of his right to the "full hearing"---are legally and factually unavailing to the Board.

3. The Board's September 2013 "restitution order" is invalid, due to the fact that the State's claim for "restitution" would have time-barred by the 2-year statute of limitation of Section 78B-2-304(2), Utah Code [for "wrongful death"] and the Board was statutorily-precluded from awarding "restitution" for "pecuniary damages" for such time-barred losses, in accordance with the provisions of Section 77-38a-102(6), Utah Code. Thus, the Board's September 2014 "restitution order" is, in essence, ultra vires of its statutorily-granted authorities; the civil judgment resulting from the filing thereof should be set aside.

4. The Board's September 2013 "restitution order" is invalid, due to the fact that the September 2014 "restitution order"---the "order" which was actually filed with the District Court and for which the filing thereof creates the "civil judgment" sought to be set aside---was

not "made within sixty days" of the Defendant's release from prison, as required by Section 77-27-6(4), Utah Code.

5. The provisions of Section 77-27-5(3), Utah Code [administrative decisions (including restitution) and orders of the Board of Pardons decisions are not subject to any judicial review] is unconstitutional, as violative of Article I, Section 11 ["open courts" provisions] of the Utah Constitution. The statutory terms---expressly prohibiting any and all "judicial review" of Board decisions---are clear on their face and are incapable of any reasonable interpretation which avoids the unconstitutional result. That the Utah Supreme Court in previous cases has avoided addressing the obvious "unconstitutionality" of Section 77-27-5(3)---because the Supreme Court in those cases was not requested to do so---is no reason for this appellate court to refuse the claims of this Defendant, who certainly has "standing" to raise this issue.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I**

**THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ITS RULING  
THAT THE COURT HAD "NO JURISDICTION" TO CONSIDER  
AND RULE UPON DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO "SET ASIDE"  
THE "CIVIL JUDGMENT" RESULTING FROM  
THE FILING AND ENTRY OF THE "ORDER OF RESTITUTION"**

Attempting to avoid having the District Court "set aside" its 24 September 2013 "Order of Restitution", Intervenor UTAH BOARD OF PARDONS [hereinafter "the BOARD" or simply "the Board"] argued [RECORD at 158] and the District Court agreed and ruled [RECORD at 279-282 (11 April 2014),



RECORD 593-595 (Memorandum Decision and Order": 21 August 2014) and RECORD at 604-608 (Court Order: 29 September 2014)] that the Court had "no jurisdiction" to consider and grant Defendant's "set aside" motion. [Photocopies of these District Court rulings are attached hereto as addenda to this APPELLANT'S BRIEF: ATTACHMENT No. 2, ATTACHMENT No. 3 and ATTACHMENT No. 4, respectively.] The District Court erred in its "no jurisdiction" rulings.

A

Article VIII, Section 1 of the Utah Constitution, provides in relevant part:

The judicial power of the state shall be vested in a supreme court, **in a trial court of general jurisdiction known as the district court,** and in such other courts as the Legislature by statute may establish.

Emphasis added.

Article VIII, Section 5 of the Utah Constitution, pertaining to the "jurisdiction of the District Court", provides in relevant part:

The district court **shall have original jurisdiction in all matters** except as limited by this constitution or by statute, and power to issue all extraordinary writs. . . .

Emphasis added.

The foregoing "constitutional" provisions have been incorporated into statute, codified at Section 78A-5-102, Utah Code, which provides in relevant part:

(1) **The district court has original jurisdiction in all matters civil and criminal,** not excepted in the Utah Constitution and not prohibited by law.

. . . .

Emphasis added.

The "jurisdiction" in the instant situation arises and is authoritatively controlled by Subsection 77-27-6(4), Utah Code, pertaining to the Board's authority to "order restitution" by a person under its control. Subsection 77-27-6(4) provides in its entirety:

(4) If the defendant, upon termination or expiration of sentence owes outstanding fines, restitution, or other assessed costs, or if the board makes an order of restitution within 60 days after the termination or expiration of the defendant's sentence, the matter shall be referred to the district court for civil collection remedies. The Board of Pardons and Parole shall forward a restitution order to the sentencing court to be entered on the judgment docket. The entry shall constitute a lien and is subject to the same rules as a judgment for money in a civil judgment.

Emphasis added.

The first sentence will be analyzed in greater detail in Point IV of this APPELLANT'S BRIEF [pp. 46-51], but the closing phrase "the matter shall be referred to the district court for civil collection remedies" while initially appearing to be perhaps somewhat vague (ala "referred to the district court" and "for civil collection remedies"), deliberate thought proves otherwise: a legislative investiture of "jurisdiction"---namely "civil" jurisdiction---to the District Court. Correspondingly, there could be no "civil collection remedies" if there were not some kind of "jurisdiction" for the District Court to first enter some kind of "judgment" to be collected upon by the affected claimant.

That a "judgment"---for which "jurisdiction" of some kind is a fundamental conceptual prerequisite---will arise is made clear by the final two sentences of Subsection 77-27-6(4), thus:

. . . The Board of Pardons and Parole shall forward **a restitution order to the sentencing court** to be entered on the judgment docket. **The entry shall constitute a lien and is subject to the same rules as a judgment for money in a civil judgment.**

Emphasis added. The phrase "forward a restitution order to the sentencing court to be entered on the judgment docket" is significant: the text confirms the Legislature's investiture of "jurisdiction" to "enter" the "restitution order" on the District Court's "judgment docket". The second sentence---namely

The entry [of the Board-prepared "order of restitution" upon the judgment docket] shall constitute a lien and is subject to the same rules as a judgment for money in a civil judgment.  
[Bracketed text added for clarity]

---is even more clear as to the legislative intent: the thus "entered" order of restitution "is subject to the same rules as a **judgment** for money in a **civil judgment**". Emphasis added. [While the phrase "shall constitute a lien" is arguably confusing in the traditional "lien" sense of that word, the "judgment" term---utilized twice---is absolutely clear.] It is this "civil judgment" terminology which gives rise to the Defendant's usage of that terminology to describe the object of his "set aside" motion.

The closing phrase---pertaining to the "entry" of the

Board's "order of restitution" upon the District Court's "judgment docket"---"and is subject to the same rules" applies not only to the rules pertaining to the "collection" of the "civil judgment", but must also encompass and include those "rules"---for example, Rule 60(b)---providing for the "setting aside" of the former "judgment" in appropriate cases.FOOTNOTE<sup>3</sup>

The provisions of the Utah "Crime Victims Restitution Act", codified at Section 77-38a-101 et seq, Utah Code, are supportive of the foregoing analysis. Although most of the provisions of the Crime Victims Restitution Act are generally applicable only to the sentencing court, a few narrowly-drawn and specifically-referenced procedural provisions are expressly made applicable to Board-ordered "restitution" matters, as per Sections 77-27-3 and 77-27-5, applicable to the Board. Subsection 77-38a-401(4), Utah Code, also applicable to the situation, describes the "civil judgment" as follows:

---

<sup>3</sup> The Defendant's simultaneously-filed Rule 60(b)(6) motion to "set aside" the "civil judgment" is authorized and meritorious under that Rule, which provides:

. . . On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in furtherance of justice **relieve a party** or his legal representative **from a final judgment, order, or proceeding** for the following reasons:

(6) any other reason **justifying relief from the operation of the judgment.**

Emphasis added.

A judgment ordering restitution, . . . is subject to the same rules as a judgment in a civil action.

Emphasis added.

B

Judge Skanchy's "no jurisdiction" ruling is seems confused and inconsistent. In his 11 April 2014 "MEMORANDUM DECISION" ruling upon Defendant's original "set aside" motion, Judge Skanchy wrote:

Utah Code Ann., Subsection (5)(d)(ii), provides that "[a]ny pecuniary damages that have not been determined by the court within one year after sentencing may be determined by the Board of Pardons and Parole." Utah courts have long recognized that "Once a court imposes a valid sentence, it loses subject matter jurisdiction over the case." State v. Montoya, 825 P.2d 676, 679 (Utah App. 1991); State v. Vaughn, 2011 UT App 411, ¶ 11, 266 P.3d 202. This Court entered a valid sentence in this case, and **thereby lost subject matter jurisdiction**. Furthermore, once the one-year period after sentencing expired, **this Court also lost jurisdiction over Mr. Garcia's restitution obligation**. Jurisdiction moved to the Board to determine restitution owed.

**The Court hereby concludes that it lacks jurisdiction to set aside the Board's claim for restitution against Mr. Garcia. The Board's claim is not subject to judicial review by this Court.** The Court imposed a prison sentence on June 2, 2008, **thereby losing subject matter jurisdiction**. Once the one-year period after sentencing by this Court expired, the Court **further lost jurisdiction** over Mr. Garcia's restitution obligation. Jurisdiction moved to the Board at the expiration of the Court's jurisdiction over restitution.

Accordingly, Mr. Garcia's Motion to Set Aside Restitution is denied.

Emphasis added. Pages 3-4 of District Court "MEMORANDUM DECISION". RECORD at 281-282. Copy thereof at ATTACHMENT 2 in the Addenda to this APPELLANT'S BRIEF.

As can be seen from the foregoing quoted material, the District Court [Judge Skanchy] misapprehended and/or failed

to consider the applicable statutes (and/or Defendant GARCIA's arguments thereon): that under Section 77-27-6(4) the District Court is REINVESTED (or reinstated) "with jurisdiction", even "civil" jurisdiction. That REINSTATED "jurisdiction" arises pursuant to the Board's "refer[ring]" its "restitution order" for "entry on the [Court's] judgment docket", which essentially creates the "civil judgment" herein sought to be "set aside". [Quoted terms are from 77-27-6(4); bracketed term added for clarity.] It is that REINSTATED "jurisdiction" which the District Court could have and should have exercised.

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