2015

**The State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee v. Dennis J. Garcia,  
Defendant/Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under this Court's precedents, a district court loses subject matter jurisdiction over a criminal case once it imposes a valid sentence. Defendant does not dispute the validity of his sentence in this case. Because defendant's motions did not address the validity of his sentence, the jurisdiction of the sentencing court was not properly invoked. For this reason, the district court correctly rejected defendant's attempts to challenge the Board's order of restitution in the context of his criminal case.

---

<sup>1</sup>Three days later, the Board entered an amended order acknowledging the Board's awareness that the April 15, 2013 expiration of defendant's sentence "is not a regular release date. CLERICAL ERROR CORRECTED." R. 190. No substantive changes were made to the earlier order.

Utah Code Ann. § 77-27-6(4) governs the collection of Board-ordered restitution. Once the order is forwarded to the sentencing court, it is entered on the judgment docket and subject to the same rules and procedures available to enforce any civil judgment for money. The ministerial act of docketing the judgment in the sentencing court does not reopen the criminal case for substantive challenges.

Because the district court had no authority to address the merits of defendant's motions in the context of the criminal case, it had no choice but to deny them on jurisdictional grounds. Its decision warrants this Court's affirmance.

#### ARGUMENT

#### THE DISTRICT COURT'S JURISDICTION IN DEFENDANT'S CRIMINAL CASE DID NOT EXTEND TO ADJUDICATING THE VALIDITY OF BOARD-ORDERED RESTITUTION

The motions defendant filed in his criminal case after the expiration of his sentence all have the same objective: to attack the validity of the Board's restitution order. And they all rest on the same unstated premise: that the sentencing court, by virtue of its statutory duty to docket the Board's order for collection as a civil judgment, may rule on the validity of the order. That premise is erroneous.

This Court's precedents make clear that in a criminal action, "[o]nce a court imposes a valid sentence, it loses subject matter jurisdiction over the case." *State v. Montoya*, 825 P.2d 676, 679 (Utah App. 1991); *see also State v. Vaughn*, 2011 UT App 411, ¶11, 266 P.3d 202 (quoting *Montoya*). While Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302(d)(i)

(West Supp. 2014) confers on that court a duty to "determine complete restitution and court-ordered restitution, and [to] make all restitution orders at the time of sentencing if feasible, otherwise within one year after sentencing[,]" that duty is subject to divestment: "Any pecuniary damages that have not been determined by the court within one year after sentencing may be determined by the Board of Pardons and Parole." *Id.*

§ 77-38a-302(d)(ii). Because the sentencing court in this case did not determine defendant's restitution within the statute's one-year deadline, its authority to do so was divested by statute in favor of the Board.<sup>2</sup>

Consistent with the statute, the Board, in its October 10, 2010 order, determined that defendant owed \$7,000.00 in restitution. R. 188. And consistent with Utah Code Ann. § 77-27-6(4) (West Supp. 2014), once it did so, it "referred [its order] to the district court for civil collection remedies." *See* R. 194-95. The purely ministerial act of docketing the Board order does not reinvest the sentencing court with jurisdiction that has lapsed by operation of statute. Rather, "[t]he entry **shall** constitute a lien and is subject to the same rules as a judgment for money" in a civil action." *Id.* § 77-27-6(4) (emphasis added). The statute's mandatory language does not authorize the sentencing court to second-guess the order's validity.

---

<sup>2</sup>As the district court correctly noted in its order, defendant's reliance on *State v. Laycock*, 2009 UT 53, 214 P.3d 104, is misplaced. While *Laycock* permitted the trial court to order restitution beyond one year from sentencing, the statute did not contain the one-year limit when the *Laycock* decision was rendered. *See* R. 595, 606.

To the extent that defendant complains of alleged procedural defects in the Board's actions, he is not without a remedy. Utah R. Civ. P. 65B(d)(2)(D) governs claims that "the Board of Pardons and Parole has exceeded its jurisdiction or failed to perform an act required by constitutional or statutory law." But defendant did not invoke the district court's jurisdiction under Rule 65B, which empowers that court to consider his substantive claims. Although Utah's district courts possess jurisdiction over all civil and criminal matters not excluded by Utah's constitution or prohibited by law, *see* Utah Code Ann. § 78A-5-102 (West Supp. 2014), when that jurisdiction has been lost—as has happened here—the court may nonetheless lack the authority to proceed. "[A] court may have jurisdiction in the strict sense, but nevertheless lack jurisdiction (or power) to act except in a particular manner, or to give certain kinds of relief, or to act without the occurrence of certain procedural prerequisites." *Berman v. Yarbrough*, 2011 UT 79, ¶ 13 n.5, 267 P.3d 905 (quoting *People v. Lara*, 48 Cal. 4th 216, 226 P.3d 322, 328 (Cal. 2010) (internal quotation marks omitted)). *Accord Atwood v. Cox*, 88 Utah 437, 55 P.2d 377, 381 (Utah 1936) (proper invocation of jurisdiction includes both the power to entertain a cause of action and the filing of a proper pleading that shows the action relates to subject matter over which the court has jurisdiction to proceed). As the *Atwood* court observed, "Jurisdiction can never depend upon the merits of the case brought before the court, but only upon its right to hear and decide at all." *Id.*

The sentencing court's imposition of a lawful sentence, and its failure to determine restitution within one year thereafter, divested it of further subject matter jurisdiction in defendant's criminal case. Consequently, the court correctly ruled that it had no authority to proceed on the merits of defendant's motions. Defendant's failure to overcome that fundamental premise deprives this Court of grounds to disturb the sentencing court's decision.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained above, the State respectfully requests this Court to affirm the decision of the district court in this matter.